IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CRIMINAL CAUSE NO.: NO. 2008-KA-01081-COA

CHRISTOPHER THOMAS APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI APPELLEE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF APPEAL

Leigh Anne Cade, Esq. MSB Notest MSB Notest

1

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

CRIMINAL CAUSE NO.: NO. 2008-KA-01081-COA

CHRISTOPHER THOMAS APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI APPELLEE

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The Indictment Was Defective and Violated Defendant's Due Process Rights.
- II. The Trial Court Erred by Allowing the Indictment to be Amended on the Day of Trial.
- III. The Trial Court Erred by Allowing the Jury to Observe the Defendant in Restraints.
- IV. The Trial Court Erred by Not Making On the Record Findings that the Race Neutral Reasons for State's Peremptory Challenges Were Non Pretextual.
- V. The Defendant was Denied a Fair Trial Due to Prosecutorial Misconduct.

ŗ

ι.

ŧ

Ę

i ;

- A. The Trial Court Erred by Allowing the Prosecution to Comment On the Firing of the Firearm.
- B. The Trial Court Erred by Allowing the Prosecution to Define "Exhibiting" During Opening Statement.
- C. The Trail Court Erred by Allowing the Prosecution to Comment on Facts Not in Evidence.
- D. The Trial Court Erred by Allowing the Prosecution to Make Improper Comments Regarding an Alleged False Statement Made by a Defense Witness that Was Not Properly Impeached.
- E. The Trial Court Erred By Allowing the Prosecution to Request That the Defendant be Punished for Asserting His Right to a Jury Trial.
- F. The Numerous Acts of Prosecutorial Misconduct Amounts to Reversable Error.
- VI. The Trial Court Err by Amending Jury Instruction D-5.
- VII. The Trial Court Erred by Overruling Defendant's Objections.
- VIII. The Trial Court Erred by Denying the Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict and Defendant's Motion for JNOV or in the Alternative Motion for a New Trial.
- IX. The Cumulative Errors Denied the Defendant a Fair Trial.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the numerous errors made during the trial of Christopher Thomas on the charge of armed robbery.

ź

On July 10, 2006, Christopher Thomas was indicted in the Circuit Court of Yazoo County, Mississippi, Cause No. 26, 0116, on five (5) counts of armed robbery in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-79. A jury trial was held on April 1, 2008. On the day of trial, the State moved to have the indictment amended to change the name of one of the victims of the alleged armed robbery and said request was granted. The State subsequently moved to have Counts IV and V of the indictment dismissed and said request was also granted. At the end to the State's case in chief, and again at the close of the Defendant's case in chief, the Defense moved for a directed verdict. Said motion was denied by the Court. The jury eventually returned a verdict of guilty on all three (3) counts presented to them, and Mr. Thomas was sentenced to serve fifteen (15) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections on each count to run concurrent with one another.

Following the trial, Mr. Thomas' trial counsel withdrew as counsel and current counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Thomas in this appeal. Thereafter, by and through current counsel, Mr. Thomas filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or in the Alternative, for a New Trial. A hearing was held on said motion and was subsequently denied. Mr. Thomas then filed this appeal.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Thomas should be granted a new trial due to the numerous errors made during his jury trial, such as Mr. Thomas being present before the jury while in restrains and the prosecution being allowed to engage in numerous acts of misconduct. Furthermore, Mr. Thomas' indictment was defective, in addition to the fact that the State was allowed to amend the indictment on the day trial, both in violation of the Defendant's due process rights. Mr. Thomas' rights were further violated as a result of the trial court's failure to conduct a proper Batson hearing and allowing unwarranted amendments to the Defendant's jury instructions. As a result of the numerous errors made during the course of the jury trial, the Defendant's fundamental right to a fair trial was severally infringed upon, and, as a result, the Defendant is entitled to a new trial.

i.

ï

÷.

ł

IV. FACTS

On January 21, 2006 Christopher Thomas, along with his cousin, entered a small establishment, known as the Game Room, in Yazoo City, Yazoo County, Mississippi. Several people, including Jody Clark, Terry Collins and Arthur James, AKA Jones, were present in the establishment shooting pool and playing dice. Mr. Thomas stood in the corner for some time, then he and his cousin left the establishment. Shortly after the two men's departure, a man with some sort of cloth wrapped around his face entered the establishment, displayed a firearm and demanded money from several of the patrons, including Jody Clark, Terry Collins and Arthur Jones. He exited the establishment with an undetermined amount of money.

Officer Jason Bright with the Yazoo City Police Department responded to the robbery. Officer Bright secured the scene until Detective Larry Davis arrived. Some of the witnesses stated to law enforcement that they believed Christopher Thomas may have been the robber based on the similarity in clothing between the robber and Christopher Thomas. At that point Mr. Thomas became a suspect. Subsequently, Mr. Thomas turned himself in to authorities.

Christopher Thomas was indicted on July 10, 2006 in the Circuit Court of Yazoo County, Mississippi, Cause No. 26-0116, on five (5) counts of armed robbery, including the armed robbery of Jody Clark, Terry Collins and Arthur James. (C.P. 3-4; R.E. 3-4)). Trial began on April 1, 2008. On the day of trial, the prosecution made an oral motion to amend the indictment to change the name Arthur James to Arthur Jones. Said motion was granted over Defense's objection. (Tr. 10-11; R.E. 16-17). The State called three eyewitnesses and victims of the robbery, Jody Clark, Terry Collins and Arthur Jones, as well as Officer Jason Bright, during its case in chief. Prior to the close of the State's case, the State then moved to dismiss Counts IV and V of the indictment, which was granted. (Tr. 161; R.E. 55). At the close of the State's case,

ŧ.

í.

1

Defense moved for a directed verdict, arguing that the identification of Christopher Thomas as the alleged robber was not proven by the State. (Tr. 172; R.E. 59). Said motion was denied without explanation. (Tr. 173; R.E. 60). The Defense then presented its case, calling Rosie Thomas and Christopher Thomas to the stand. At the close of the Defense's case, Defense's motion for a directed verdict was renewed and once again denied. (Tr. 203; R.E. 68). On April 1, 2008, the jury found Christopher Thomas guilty of three (3) counts of armed robbery. (C.P. 37-39; R.E. 7-9). He was sentenced to serve fifteen (15) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections on each count to run concurrent with one another. Said Order was entered April 21, 2008. (C.P. 42; R.E.10).

t

On April 21, 2008, an Order was entered allowing Mr. Thomas' trial counsel, attorney Joe Holloman, to withdraw and current counsel was appointed for the purposes of appeal. (C.P. 43; R.E. 11).

On April 29, 2008, Christopher Thomas, by and through current counsel, filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or in the Alternative for a New Trial, and a hearing on said motion was held on June 10, 2008. (C.P. 44-45; R.E. 12-13). After hearing arguments from counsel for the Defense and State, said motion was denied without explanation. (Tr. 242; R.E. 75).

Christopher Thomas subsequently filed his Notice of Appeal on June 20, 2008. (C.P. 47-48; R.E. 14-15).

V. ARGUMENT

I. The Indictment Was Defective and Violated Defendant's Due Process Rights.

On July 10, 2006, Christopher Thomas was indicted on a five (5) counts of armed robbery. (C.P. 3-4; R.E. 3-4). Although multi-count indictments are permissible in limited

2

circumstances, the indictment in question failed to recite the justification for a multi-count indictment.

Although Defense counsel did not object to the indictment at the trial level, the Court should address the issue under the plain error doctrine. In <u>Debrow v. State</u>, 972 So.2d 550, 553 (Miss.2007), the Court held:

Generally, issues not presented to the trial court are procedurally barred on appeal. *Williams v. State*, <u>794 So.2d 181</u>, 187 (Miss.2001) (citing *Foster v. State*, 639 So.2d 1263, 1288-89 (Miss. 1994)). However, this Court will proceed under the plain error doctrine and review errors which affect a defendant's fundamental, substantive rights in order to prevent a manifest miscarriage of justice. *Williams*, 794 So.2d at 187 (citing *Gray v. State*, <u>549 So.2d 1316</u>, 1321 (Miss.1989)).

Mississippi Code Annotated § 99-7-2 governs when it is proper to charge two or more

offenses in a single count indictment.

t = 1

7

,

'

ł

99-7-2. When two or more offenses may be charged in single indictment; trial, verdicts, and sentences.

(1) Two (2) or more offenses which are triable in the same court may be charged in the same indictment with a separate count for each offense if: (a) the offenses are based on the same act or transaction; or (b) the offenses are based on two (2) or more acts or transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan.

The law is clear that there is only limited instances in which multiple offenses can be

charged in the same indictment. In the instance case, the indictment fails to state any reason that

would allow multiple offenses to be charged in one indictment.

In Quang Thanh Tran v. State, 962 So.2d 1237, 1241 (Miss.2007), the Mississippi

Supreme Court stated:

The government may not prosecute a criminal defendant "for a capital, or otherwise infamous crime, unless on a presentment or indictment of a grand jury...." U.S. Const. amend. V. The purpose of an indictment is to satisfy the constitutional requirement that a "defendant be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation ..." U.S. Const. amend. VI; Miss. Const. art. 3, § 26. See also U.R.C.C.C. 7.06 (indictment must include a "plain, concise and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged and shall fully notify the defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation.") (emphasis added). The purpose of these requirements is to ensure that criminal defendants have a fair and adequate opportunity to prepare for and defend against the charges brought against them by the government. Therefore, in order for an indictment to be sufficient, "it must contain the essential elements of the crime charged." Peterson, 671 So.2d at 652-53 (citing May v. State, 209 Miss. 579, <u>47 So.2d 887</u> (1950)).

The Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution states:

Amendment XIV. Rights Guaranteed: Privileges and Immunities of Citizenship, Due Process, and Equal Protection

SECTION. 1. All persons born or naturalized in the United States and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

In the present case, the failure of the indictment to recite the justification for a multi-

count indictment has deprived the Defendant due process of law. The Defendant is entitled to a

clear and concise statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged. Quang Thanh

Tran, 962 So.2d at 1241. The indictment in this cause fails to give justification for the multi-

count indictment and, as such, did not give the Defendant a clear and concise statement of the

facts giving rise to the charge. As such, the Defendant was deprived due process.

II. The Trial Court Erred by Allowing the Indictment to be Amended on the Day of Trial.

On the day of trial, the prosecution made an oral motion to amend Count III of the indictment to change the name of the alleged victim from Arthur Jones to Arthur James. Defense counsel objected arguing that said amendment would violate the Defendant's due process rights and that the Defendant was entitled to some sort of notice. Said objection was overruled and the

motion was granted. (Tr. 10-11; R.E. 16-17). Subsequently, Jury Instruction No. 4 was also amended to reflect the same name change. (C.P.20; R.E. 5).

Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice, Rule 7.09 states that an

"[a]mendment shall be allowed only if the defendant is afforded a fair opportunity to present a

defense and is not unfairly surprised."

T

,

ì.

In Leonard v. State, 972 So.2d 24, 28 (Miss.Ct. App.2008) the Court stated:

Trial courts may amend indictments only to correct defects of form. Spears v. State, 942 So.2d 772, 774 (\P 6) (Miss. 2006). In contrast, defects of substance must be corrected by the grand jury. Id. The relevant question is whether amending the indictment to correct the date of the offense amounts to a defect of form or of substance. Resolution of that question depends on the facts of the case and the context of a defendant's theory of the case. "[A] change in the indictment is permissible if it does not materially alter facts which are the essence of the offense on the face of the indictment as it originally stood or materially alter a defendant's case." Id.

The prosecution wrongly stated to the judge that "What we have to prove was that somebody

was robbed. We don't have to prove the name of the person." (Tr.10, R.E. 16).

In Carter v. State, 965 So.2d 705, 709 (Miss.Ct.App.2007), the Mississippi Court of

Appeals stated the following:

The State never sought an amendment of the indictment in this case to take out the identity of the victims of the robbery. Furthermore, the identity of the victim is an essential element of the crime of robbery. In *Coffield v. State*, <u>749 So.2d 215</u>, 217(¶ 7) (Miss.Ct.App.1999) (quoting Miss.Code Ann. § 97-3-73) (Rev.1994), this Court noted: "Robbery is defined as the taking of 'the personal property of another. . . .' We are satisfied that the State is not required, as a critical element of these crimes, to either charge or to put on affirmative proof, *beyond the specific identity of the victim*, that the victim was a human being." The defendant in *Coffield* had argued that the indictment was "fatally defective for its failure to charge that the victim Lana Coffield [his estranged wife], was a human being." *Coffield*, 749 So.2d at 216-17(¶ 1).

In Burks v. State, <u>770 So.2d 960</u>, 963(¶ 12) (Miss.2000) (quoting Hughes v. State, 207 Miss. 594, 603, <u>42 So.2d 805</u>, 807 (1949), citing Upshaw v.

State, <u>350 So.2d 1358</u>, 1362 (Miss.1977)), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that "an indictment must state the name of the victim of an offense where that is an element of the offense, and a failure to state it, or a material variance between statement and proof is fatal. . . .' A variance is material if it affects the substantive rights of the defendant." We have found nothing to indicate that the identity of a victim of a robbery is not an essential element of the crime of armed robbery. Thus, it appears to this Court that the State could not have amended the indictment to omit reference to the identities of the victims, even had it attempted to do so. In either case, there was a material variance between the indictment and the proof offered, since no evidence indicated the identity of any victim other than Rivera.

The Defendant, in the present case, was charged with the crime of robbery. The Court stated in *Carter* that the identity of the victim in the case of robbery is an essential element of the crime and that an indictment must state the name of a victim of an offense where that is an element of the offense. 965 So.2d at 709. Therefore, in the present case, the amendment of the indictment to change the name of the victim was a substantive change to the indictment as opposed to a permissible change to form. Substantive change can only be made by the grand jury. *Leonard*, 972 So.2d at 28. The amendment to change the name of the victim was not made by the grand jury in the present case and was thus improper. Furthermore, the subsequent amendment to Jury Instruction 4 resulted from the improper amendment to the indictment and therefore should not have be granted.

III. The Trial Court Erred by Allowing the Jury to Observe the Defendant in Restraints.

x.

4

ι,

ι,

During voir dire examination of the jury, a short recess was taken by the Court. After the brief recess, Mr. Thomas' leg restraints were not removed prior to the jury being brought into the court room. Defense counsel notified the Judge of the restraints and the Judge instructed Defense counsel to keep the Defendant seated until the jury was taken out. However, it does not appear from the record that the jury was removed from the court room at that time. It appears that Defense counsel was instructed to continue voir dire and the jury was not recessed until the end of voir dire. (Tr. 68-69; R.E. 20-21)

Although Defense counsel did not request a mistrial based on the Defendant being present in the court room with jurors while in restraints, the Court should still address the issue as plain error. In *Debrow*, the Court stated "this Court will proceed under the plain error doctrine and review errors which affect a defendant's fundamental, substantive rights in order to prevent a manifest miscarriage of justice." 972 So.2d at 553.

In <u>Hickson v. State</u>, 472 So.2d. 379, 383 (Miss. 1985), the Court stated:

The principle that there is a presumption of innocence in favor of the accused in a criminal prosecution is "fundamental".(fn2) *Estelle v. Williams*, 425 U.S. 501, 503-504, 96 S.Ct. 1691, 1692-93, 48 L.Ed.2d 126, 130 (1976). Its enforcement lies at the foundation of the administration of our criminal justice system. *Taylor v. Kentucky*, 436 U.S. 478, 483, 98 S.Ct. 1930, 1933, 56 L.Ed.2d 468, 474 (1978). Though not expressly written into the Bill of Rights, the presumption of innocence has long been recognized as the logical corollary of the principle that the prosecution bears the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, a proposition which has been accorded federal constitutional status. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 315-16, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2786-87, 61 L.Ed.2d 560, 571 (1979). This Court has been sensitive to subtle erosions of the presumption of innocence. *Friday v. State*, 462 So.2d 336, 338 (Miss.1985) (prospect of destroying presumption of innocence inherent in multicount indictment).

of destruction in the minds of the jury of the presumption of innocence where the accused is required to wear prison garb, is handcuffed or otherwise shackled. See, e.g., Brewster v. Bordenkircher, 745 F.2d 913, 916-18 (4th Cir.1984); Zygadlo v. Wainwright, 720 F.2d 1221, 1223 (11th Cir. 1983); Kennedy v. Cardwell, 487 F.2d 101, 104 (6th Cir.1973); Hernandez v. Beto, 443 F.2d 634, 636-637 (5th Cir.1971); State v. Crawford, <u>99 Idaho 87</u>, 95-96, 577 P.2d 1135, 1143-44 (1978); Shultz v. State, 131 Fla. 757, 758,<u>179 So. 764</u>, 765 (1938); Blair v. Commonwealth, 171 Ky. 319, 327-29, 188 S.W. 390, 393-94 (1916).

Clearly, being detained in restraints while in the presence of the jury violates defendant's

fundamental right to a presumption of innocence and, therefore, should be addressed by this

Court under the plain error doctrine.

ſ

2 3

i

L

In Williams v. State, 962 So.2d 129, 131 (Miss.Ct.App.2007), the Court stated:

In general, a defendant has the right to be "free of shackles or handcuffs" when in front of the jury. *Smith v. State*, <u>877 So.2d 369</u>, 379(¶ 17) (Miss.2004) (citations omitted). "However, where there is a risk of escape or the possibility of harm to other persons, restraint devices may be used in the judge's discretion." *Id.* (citing *Brown v. State*, <u>798 So.2d 481</u>, 501(¶ 42) (Miss.2001)).

There is no evidence that at any time during the course of the trial did Mr. Thomas attempt to escape or pose a threat to anyone. Furthermore, Mr. Thomas was prejudiced by the restraints as he was unable to freely move and communicate with counsel. Furthermore, upon being notified of the shackles, the Court failed to immediately take a recess in order to have the shackles removed. Finally, the Court failed to question the jury as to whether or not they had seen the Defendant in the restraints. As such, Defendant should be granted a new trial.

IV. The Trial Court Erred by Not Making On the Record Findings that the Race Neutral Reasons for State's Peremptory Challenges Were Non Pretextual.

During the jury selection process made in chambers, Defense counsel made an objection to the States use of preemptory challenges. (Tr. 87; R.E. 22). After reviewing the make up of the possible jury, the Court found that there was a prima-facie case of a Batson violation. (Tr.87-92; R.E. 22-27). At that point the State was asked to give race-neutral reasons for its challenges. The State responded as follows:

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