CHRISTOPHER THOMAS

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1081

APPELLANT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

÷...

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

Alternatively, the state submits the gist of Thomas's argument is that the jury might have "depended upon his [the prosecutor's] definition" rather than applying the court's instructions to the evidence presented. (Brief for Appellant 14) The state counters that the court instructed the jury that arguments of counsel were not evidence, and that any statement of counsel not based on evidence should be disregarded. (C.P.15) This charge obviated any conceivable error. E.g., *Lee v. State*, 837 So.2d 781, 785 (Miss.App.2003). In any case, because "exhibiting" is hardly an arcane legal term, it strains credulity to submit that the prosecutor told the jurors anything they did not already know. The state maintains that this point is procedurally barred.

C. Next, Thomas claims the court committed reversible error in allowing the state to argue that his face was not completely covered during the commission of these crimes. Defense counsel objected on the ground the comment was contrary to the evidence. The court overruled the objection. The prosecutor went on to state, "Y'all determine what the evidence shows, not the lawyers." (T.213) As shown in the previous paragraph of this brief, the court's instruction gave the jury the same admonition. Accordingly, there is no error with respect to the court's ruling on this objection.

D. Additionally, the defense contends the court erred in allowing the state to attempt to impeach Rosie Thomas during its questioning of Thomas. On cross-examination of the defendant, the state conducted the following line of inquiry:

Q. Mr. Thomas, are you aware that on the night this robbery took place, your mama clocked in for work at eleven o'clock in the evening at the Yazoo City Police Department?

A. No, sir. I don't keep up with her schedule.

Q. Were you aware that the police department keeps up with those records?

A. I'm quite sure they do, sir.

Q. So she couldn't have been there to see you, could she, the way she testified if that's right, could she?

(T.186-87)

At that point, defense counsel objected on the ground the state was trying to impeach Thomas

with another witness's testimony, stating that this tactic was "improper." The court overruled the

objection. (T.187)

For the first time on appeal, the defense argues that the state was attempting to impeach

Rosie Thomas, rather than Thomas himself, and that this procedure violated M.R.E. 613(b).³

³That subsection is set out below:

(b) Extrinsic Evidence of Prior Inconsistent Statement of Witness. Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is afforded an opportunity to explain or deny the same and the opposite party is afforded an opportunity to interrogate him thereon, or the interests of justice otherwise require. This provision does not apply to admissions of a party-opponent as defined in Rule 801(d)(2). The state counters first that this contention was not made below and therefor has been waived.⁴ "It is elementary that different grounds than the objections presented to the trial court cannot be presented for the first time on appeal," *Russell v. State*, 607 So.2d 1107, 1117 (Miss.1992), and that "[t]he trial court will not be held in error on a legal point that was not presented for its consideration." *White v. State*, 809 So.2d 776, 777 (Miss.App.2002).

Solely in the alternative, the state submits M.R.E. 613(b) has no application here. The state did introduce or even attempt to introduce any "statement" of Rosie Thomas. This point plainly lacks substantive as well as procedural merit.

As for the complaint about the prosecutor's comments transcribed at T.202, the defense did not object or ask the court for any curative action. The attempt to predicate error on this occurrence is procedurally barred. E.g., *Randolph v. State*, 852 So.2d 547 (Miss.2002).

E. Thomas contends additionally that the prosecution committed misconduct during the sentencing hearing, when the assistant district attorney stated, "Normally, I don't speak at sentencing like this, but I ask the Court to take into consideration that he put his through this trial ... He should have taken his plea offer." The defense responded, "I think it's unconstitutional for him to be punished for exercising his right to a trial." The court stated, "I agree. I would not consider that as part of the sentencing." (T.235) Under these circumstances, Thomas cannot show that the prosecutor's comment prejudiced him in any way.

⁴At trial, the defense objected on the ground the state was attempting to impeach the defendant, not Rosie Thomas. (T.187)

F. Finally, the state submits the lack of merit in claims A. through E. show the lack of merit in claim F.

For the reasons set out in the foregoing argument, the state submits Thomas's fifth proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION SIX:

THE DEFENSE WAS NOT PREJUDICED BY THE GRANTING OF INSTRUCTION D-5 AS AMENDED

Thomas argues additionally that the trial court erred in amending Instruction D-5 to strike

the last phrase of the first paragraph therein. The instruction as tendered read as follows:

It is a question of fact whether the gun claimed to have been used by Christopher Thomas was a deadly weapon *in the manner claimed to have been used.*

A deadly weapon may be defined as any object, article or means which, when used as a weapon under the existing circumstances is reasonably capable of producing or likely to produce death or serious bodily harm to a human being upon whom the object, article or means is used.

(emphasis added) (C.P.30) The state objected to the first paragraph on the ground that it was superfluous to the

second. Over the objection of the defendant, the court struck the language set out in italics above and granted the instruction as amended. (T.206-07)

The state submits that while the stricken language was not an incorrect statement of law, the point was adequately conveyed by the language set out above in bold. Both phrases required a finding that the instrument was a deadly weapon under the specific facts of this case. Under these circumstances, the granting of the instruction as amended could not have prejudiced the defense. Thomas's sixth proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION SEVEN:

THE CHALLENGES TO THE OVERRULING OF SEVERAL OBJECTIONS INTERPOSED BY THE DEFENSE HAVE NO MERIT

Thomas goes on to argue that the court erred in overruling certain objections interposed

by the defense. The first challenge implicates the following, which was taken during the direct

examination of Collins:

Q. Now, after this happened, did you have an opportunity to talk to law enforcement officers?

A. Yeah. I told 'em what happened.

Q. And has any of that– has that version changed since what you told them until today?

MR. HOLLOMON: Court please, object to that.

THE COURT: Overruled.

MR. WALDRUP: (Continuing.)

Q. Have you changed it?

A. No.

(T.122-23)

The foregoing excerpt demonstrates that the defense interposed a general objection to this

testimony. Such objection is insufficient to preserve this issue for appeal. As the Mississippi

Supreme Court stated in Seeling v. State, 844 So.2d 439, 445 (Miss.2003),

Counsel must make specific objections in order to preserve a question for appellate review. This Court has said many times that general objections will not suffice. Objections to the admissibility of evidence must specifically state the grounds; otherwise, the objection is waived. [citations omitted]

As considered in Oates v. State, 421 So.2d 1025, 1030 (Miss.1982), there are three basic considerations which underlie

the rule requiring specific objections. It avoids costly new trials. [citation omitted] It allows the offering party an opportunity to obviate the objection. [citation omitted] Lastly, a trial court is not put in error unless it had an opportunity to pass on the question. [citation omitted] These rules apply with equal force in the instant case....

Accord, Sturkey v. State, 946 So.2d 790, 795 (Miss.App.2006).

Although no further discussion is necessary, the state briefly addresses the merits of Thomas's argument. Thomas claims that the state improperly elicited evidence of a prior consistent statement. The short and dispositve answer to that contention is that no such evidence was brought out. The state did not bring out proof that Thomas had made prior consistent statements; Thomas simply testified that he had never given an inconsistent account of his initial version of the events in question. Thomas's first challenge therefore lacks substantive as well as procedural merit.

Thomas next points to the question posed to Officer Bright, "Was there ever any-- another suspect?" Officer Bright answered, "No." The defense objected on the ground the question called for speculation. The court overruled the objection. (T.167-68) The state fails to ascertain, and Thomas fails to assert, how this testimony had any effect on the outcome of the trial. With respect to this point, Thomas has clearly failed to sustain his burden on demonstrating reversible error on the part of the trial court. See *McDonald v. State*, 881 So.2d 895, 901 (Miss.App.2004).

The final challenge under this proposition implicates the following, which was taken during the state's cross-examination of Thomas:

Q. You've never owned a pistol?

A. I never owned a 40 caliber.

Q. What kind have you owned?

MR. HOLLOMON: If the Court please, object to relevance.

THE COURT: Sustained.

A. Thirty-eight.

MR. HOLLOMON: Court, please, object.

THE COURT: Sustained.

(T.192)

As shown by this portion of the transcript, the court sustained the only objections

interposed to this line of questioning, and the defense requested no further action. "It is the rule

in this State that where an objection is sustained, and no request is made that the jury be told to

disregard the objectionable matter, there is no error." Perry v. State, 637 So.2d 871, 874

(Miss.1994), quoted in Minor v. State, 831 So.2d 1116, 1123 (Miss.2002).

For these reasons, Thomas's seventh proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION EIGHT:

THE VERDICTS ARE BASED ON LEGALLY SUFFICIENT PROOF AND ARE NOT CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

Under his sixth proposition, Wilson argues that the proof is legally insufficient to sustain the verdicts and alternatively that he is entitled to a new trial because the verdicts are against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. To prevail on his challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, he must satisfy the following formidable standard of review:

> When on appeal one convicted of a criminal offense challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence, our authority to interfere with the jury's verdict is quite limited. We proceed by considering all of the evidence--not just that supporting the case for the prosecution--in the light most consistent with the verdict. We give [the] prosecution the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. If the facts and

inferences so considered point in favor of the accused with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that he was guilty, reversal and discharge are required. On the other hand, if there is in the record substantial evidence of such quality and weight that, having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable and fair-minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, the verdict of guilty is thus placed beyond our authority to disturb.

Manning v. State, 735 So.2d 323, 333 (Miss.1999), quoting McFee v. State, 511 So.2d 130, 133-34 (Miss.1987).

Moreover,

The jury is charged with the responsibility of weighing and considering conflicting evidence, evaluating the credibility of witnesses, and determining whose testimony should be believed. [citation omitted] The jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory, and sincerity. *Noe v. State*, 616 So.2d 298, 302 (Miss.1993) (citations omitted). "It is not for this Court to pass upon the credibility of witnesses and where evidence justifies the verdict it must be accepted as having been found worthy of belief." *Williams v. State*, 427 So.2d 100, 104 (Miss.1983).

(emphasis added) Ford v. State, 737 So.2d 424, 425 (Miss.App.1999).

See also Jackson v. State, 580 So.2d 1217, 1219 (Miss.1991) (on appellate review the state "is

entitled to the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the

evidence"), and Noe, 616 So.2d at 302 (evidence favorable to the defendant should be

disregarded). Accord, Harris v. State, 532 So.2d 602, 603 (Miss.1988) (appellate court "should

not and cannot usurp the power of the fact-finder/jury"). "When a defendant challenges the

sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, the evidence which supports the verdict is

accepted as true by the reviewing court, and the State is given the benefit of all reasonable

inferences flowing from the evidence." Dumas v. State, 806 So.2d 1009, 1011 (Miss.2000).

This rigorous standard applies to the claim that the defendant is entitled to a new trial:

The standard of review in determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is well settled. "[T]his Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." Dudley v. State, 719 So.2d 180, 182(¶ 8) (Miss.1998). On review, the State is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." Griffin v. State, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss.1992). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." Dudley, 719 So.2d at 182. "This Court does not have the task of re-weighing the facts in each case to, in effect, go behind the jury to detect whether the testimony and evidence they chose to believe was or was not the most credible." Langston v. State, 791 So.2d 273, 280 (¶ 14) (Miss.Ct.App.2001).

Smith v. State, 868 So.2d 1048, 1050-51 (Miss.App.2004),

Furthermore,

The jury is charged with the responsibility of weighing and considering conflicting evidence, evaluating the credibility of witnesses, and determining whose testimony should be believed. [citation omitted] The jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory, and sincerity. *Noe v. State*, 616 So.2d 298, 302 (Miss.1993) (citations omitted). "It is **not for this Court to pass upon the credibility of witnesses and where evidence justifies the verdict it must be accepted as having been found worthy of belief.**" *Williams v. State*, 427 So.2d 100, 104 (Miss.1983).

(emphasis added) Ford v. State, 737 So.2d 424, 425 (Miss.App.1999).

It has been "held in numerous cases that the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be attached to their testimony." *Kohlberg v. State*, 704 So.2d 1307,

1311 (Miss.1997). As the Mississippi Supreme Court reitereated in Hales v. State, 933 So.2d

962, 968 (Miss.2006), criminal cases will not be reversed "where there is a straight issue of fact, or a conflict in the facts..." [citations omitted] Rather, "juries are impaneled for the very purpose of passing upon such questions of disputed fact, and [the Court does] not intend to invade the province and prerogative of the jury." [citations omitted]

We incorporate by reference the proof set out in our Statement of Substantive Facts to support our position that the prosecution presented substantial credible evidence of Thomas's guilt on three counts of armed robbery. The testimony presented a straight issue of fact which was properly resolved by the jury. The trial court correctly submitted this case to the jury and did not err in refusing to disturb its verdict. Thomas's eighth proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION NINE:

THOMAS'S INVOCATION OF THE CUMULATIVE ERROR DOCTRINE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND SUBSTANTIVELY MERITLESS

Thomas finally contends that the cumulative errors of the trial court mandates reversal of the judgment rendered against him. He did not present this argument below and may not raise it for the first time on appeal. *Maldonado v. State*, 796 So.2d 247, 260-61 (Miss.2001); *Gibson v. State*, 731 So.2d 1087, 1098 (Miss.1998). His ninth proposition is procedurally barred.

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